IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

APR 1 1985
CLERK, SUPREME COURT

THE FLORIDA BAR, )
Complainant, )

Supreme Court Case No. 65, 580

THOMAS W. HEADLEY, )

v.

Respondent. )

On Petition for Review of the Referee's Report in a Disciplinary Proceeding.

MAIN BRIEF OF COMPLAINANT SUPPORTING PETITION FOR REVIEW

PATRICIA S. ETKIN
Bar Counsel
The Florida Bar
Suite 211, Rivergate Plaza
444 Brickell Avenue
Miami, FL 33131
(305) 377-4445

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar Tallahassee, FL 32301-8226 (904) 222-5286

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Tallahassee, FL 32301-8226 (904) 222-5286

#

INTRODUCTIONi
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
I. The evidence was insufficient to establish a causal relationship between Respondent's alcoholism and the misconduct so as to justify consideration of alcoholism as a mitigating factor
II. Where the evidence clearly establishes Respondent's present inabliity to practice law due to alcoholism or any mental or physical condition, proof of rehabilitation should be required through reinstatement proceedings before Respondent is permitted to resume the practice of law
III. The terms of probation recommended by the Referee are ambiguous as well as contrary to the Integration Rule of The Florida Barl
IV. Considering the circumstances in this case, suspension for a period of three months and one day with proof of rehabilitation and payment of costs is an appropriate disciplinary sanction
CONCLUSION

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# CASES

Stat	ce ex rel. The Florida Bar v. Hogsten, So.2d 668 (Fla. 1961)11
127	So.2d 668 (Fla. 1961)11
The	Florida Bar v. Blalock,
325	So. 2d 401 (Fla. 1976)9
The	Florida Bar v. Bratton,
413	So. 2d 754 (Fla. 1982)23
The	Florida Bar v. Breed,
368	So.2d 356 (Fla. 1979)25
The	florida Bar v. Davidson,
433	So. 2d 966 (Fla. 1983)23
The	Florida Bar v. Goldin
240	So.2d 300 (Fla. 1970)15
The	Florida Bar v. Hartnett, So.2d 1352 (Fla. 1981)25
398	So.2d 1352 (Fla. 1981)25
The	Florida Bar v. Hawkins, So.2d 483 (Fla. 1984)23
450	So.2d 483 (F1a. 1984)23
The	Florida Bar v. Hirsch, So.2d 856 (Fla. 1978)25
359	50.2d 856 (F1a. 19/8)25
The	Florida Bar v. Larkin,
420	So.2d 1080 (Fla. 1982)15
The	Florida Bar v. Levenson, So.2d 794 (Fla. 1971)
252	So.2d /94 (Fla. 1971)
The	Florida Bar v. Moran, So.2d 379 (Fla. 1973)16,22
273	So.2d 3/9 (Fla. 19/3)16,22
The	Florida Bar v. Musleh,
453	So.2d 794 (Fla. 1984)16
The	Florida Bar v. Pahules, So.2d 130 (Fla. 1970)
233	So.2d 130 (F1a. 1970)
The	Florida Bar v. Prior, So.2d 83 (Fla. 1977)23
The 379	Florida Barv. Rosetti,

# INTEGRATION RULE OF THE FLORIDA BAR

Article II
Section 21,4,19
Article VIII
Section 21,4,7,1
Section 618
Article XI
Rule 11.10(1)20
Rule 11.10(8)19
Rule 11.118,10,24
Rule 11.11(3)18,19
Rule 11.11(5)19
FLORIDA BAR CODE OF PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY
Disciplinary Rule
D.R. 3-101(B)

#### INTRODUCTION

In this brief, The Florida Bar will be referred to as either "The Florida Bar", "the Bar", or "Complainant", Thomas W. Headley will be referred to as the "Respondent" or "Mr. Headley" and The Florida Bar Special Committee on Alcohol Abuse will be referred to as the "Special Committee".

Abbreviations utilized in this brief are as follows:

"T" refers to the Transcript of Proceedings dated December 21, 1984

"R.R. refers to the Report of Referee

"COMPL. EX." refers to Complainant's Exhibit attached to the Transcript of Proceedings dated December 21, 1984

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Florida Bar seeks review of a referee's report recommending that Respondent be placed on probation for his misconduct in practicing law while under suspension for nonpayment of dues.

The Referee found that on October 1, 1980 Respondent was suspended from the practice of law for nonpayment of dues, that Respondent received notification from The Florida Bar as to his suspension and dues delinquency during 1980, 1981, 1982 and 1983 and that he "neglected" to file a petition for reinstatement until October 28, 1983 (R.R. 1). The Referee's report indicates that the "gravamen of the Bar's Complaint is that Respondent continued to practice law in 1980, 1981, 1982 and 1983 after having been duly suspended for nonpayment of Bar dues" (R.R. 1).

Respondent appeared at the hearing before the Referee and admitted the charges (R.R. 2). The Referee found that Respondent's actions violated Disciplinary Rule 3-101(B) of the Code of Professional Responsibility and article II, Section 2 and article VIII, Section 2 of the Integration Rule of The Florida Bar (R.R. 2).

The Referee's report reflects that consideration was given to Respondent's argument as to mitigation, specifically

Respondent's alcoholism (R.R. 2,3). In recommending discipline the Referee attempts to design a term of "probation" under the supervision of the Special Committee, incorporating "provisional reinstatment", which he feels will enhance Respondent's chances for successful rehabilitation (R.R. 4,5).

The Florida Bar contests the Referee's consideration of Respondent's alcoholism as a mitigating factor; the Referee's recommendation of probation as an appropriate disciplinary sanction as well as the specific terms of probation recommended by the Referee; and the Referee's failure to recommend that Respondent demonstrate proof of rehabilitation through reinstatement proceedings. Accordingly Complainant urges that the Supreme Court accept the Referee's findings as to guilt and reject the Referee's recommended discipline as inappropriate in this case. The Florida Bar suggests that suspension for three months and one day with proof of rehabilitation and payment of costs is an appropriate disciplinary sanction.

# STATEMENT OF FACTS

The complaint filed by The Florida Bar alleges that Respondent was suspended from the practice of law for nonpayment of dues in October 1980 and did not petition for reinstatement until October 1983. During the aforementioned period, Respondent received annual notification of his dues delinquency from The Florida Bar. In addition, in February 1983 Respondent was notified by letter from the Miami Office of The Florida Bar that he was delinquent in his dues and should not practice law. On March 29 and June 1, 1983 Respondent was contacted by a Bar staff investigator to confirm that he had received actual notice of his delinquent Despite receiving the notification referred to above, Respondent continued to practice law while under suspension for nonpayment of dues and did not petition for reinstatement until October 1983, three years after his suspension.

Respondent failed to file an answer to the Complaint or respond to the Request for Admissions. As a result, the matters were deemed admitted (Tr. 6). The Referee found Respondent guilty of practicing law while under suspension for nonpayment of dues in violation of Disciplinary Rule

3-101(B) of the Code of Professional Responsibility and article II, Section 2 and article VIII, Section 2 of the Integration Rule of The Florida Bar (R.R. 2).

Respondent appeared at final hearing to acknowledge his misconduct and present evidence of alcoholism as a mitigating factor.

The Florida Bar recommended to the Referee that a suspension for three months and one day and proof of rehabilitation was an appropriate disciplinary sanction (R.R. 2). Respondent's position was that the discipline recommended by The Florida Bar is "unwarranted" (Tr. 16).

In his report, the Referee acknowledged that the discipline recommended by The Florida Bar was not "unduly harsh" but was not, in his opinion best suited in this case because the Special Committee of The Florida Bar on Alcohol Abuse would not be utilized and therefore Respondent would not have the benefit of the Committee's assistance during his rehabilitation (R.R. 3,4). The Referee rejected the Bar's disciplinary recommendation in favor of probation with "provisional reinstatement" as detailed below:

1. Respondent will be placed on probation for a period of not less than six months, nor less than twelve months, under the supervision and guidance of The Florida Bar Special Committee on Alcohol Abuse,

Administrative Law Judge Michael E. Hanrahan, Chairman. Confidentiality in this matter having been waived, the Referee has taken the liberty of discussing the possibility of having the committee supervise Respondent's rehabilitation with the committee Chairman, Administrative Law Judge Michael E. Hanrahan, who advised that the committee would be willing to so serve and with approval of The Supreme Court, Judge Hanrahan would assign attorneys George Tulin, Raymond P. O'Keefe and Richard A. Moore to supervise and monitor Respondent's rehabilitation.

- Upon payment of arreared Bar dues for 1984-1985 and a favorable written report from the Special Committee recommending reinstatement made to The Supreme Court, Respondent would be provisionally reinstated to practice law under the direct supervision and daily monitoring by the Special Committee. Thereafter, upon any report of the Special Committee made to The Supreme Court that Respondent's progress or rehabilitation has become unsatisfactory and that there exists in their opinion a potential for harm to the public, Respondent may be suspended from provisional practice of law by The Supreme Court and Respondent would be suspended for a period of three months and one day and thereafter, Respondent shall show proof of rehabilitation prior to said suspension being lifted.
  - a. Upon the filing of such an adverse report with the Supreme Court, the Respondent will be entitled to file a response contesting same and shall have the right to be heard on same prior to action upon said adverse Committee report by The Supreme Court.
  - b. After six months the Committee shall render a written recommendation to The Supreme Court as to whether Respondent's probation should continue and shall set forth the grounds for the basis of said belief.
- 3. The Special Committee shall advise The Supreme Court on a monthly basis of Respondent's progress.
- 4. Respondent shall continue his participation in Alcoholics Anonymous during the period of his probation and Respondent will not consume any alcoholic beverages.

- 5. Respondent will not violate The Integration Rules or Code of Professional Responsibility.
- 6. Costs of this proceeding of \$1,275.30 shall be taxed against Respondent and shall be paid to The Florida Bar within one year of the termination (successful or otherwise) of Respondent's probation. Said costs shall accrue interest at the rate of 12% per annum.

(R.R. 4-5)

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent's misconduct of practicing law while under suspension for nonpayment of dues occurred during 1980, 1981, 1982 and 1983. At final hearing, Respondent testified that he first sought treatment for alcoholism in August 1984. Other than Respondent's testimony, there was no corroborating evidence that Respondent was an alcoholic prior to 1984 and during the period of misconduct. Further, there was no evidence that Respondent's alcoholism caused the misconduct. It is The Florida Bar's position that evidence suggesting that alcoholism may have existed at the same time as the misconduct is insufficient to establish a causal relationship between alcoholism and the misconduct so as to justify the Referee's consideration of alcoholism as a mitigating factor.

Assuming, arguendo, that Respondent's alcoholism should have properly been considered by the Referee as a mitigating

factor, the evidence presented, including Respondent's own testimony, clearly establishes that Respondent is currently unfit to practice law. Based upon such evidence, proof of rehabilitation should be required through reinstatement proceedings. Probation should not be considered a substitute for formal reinstatement proceedings and should only be utilized to further ensure a respondent's continued compliance with certain behavior after it is established that the respondent is currently fit to resume the practice of law.

Moreover, the terms of probation recommended by the

Referee are inappropriate and not in accordance with the

Integration Rule of The Florida Bar in that: (1) the

specific terms are unclear; (2) the determination of fitness
to practice law is transferred by the Referee to an entity

not authorized by either the Supreme Court or Integration

Rule of The Florida Bar to consider such matters; (3) the

provision for reinstatement upon payment of the arrearage in

Bar dues does not require either prior petition to and
approval by the Board of Governors pursuant to article VIII,

Section 2 of the Integration Rule of The Florida Bar or proof
of payment of any outstanding costs of disciplinary

proceedings; (4) the recommendation for provisional

reinstatement is not a Bar membership status which is recognized by the Integration Rule of The Florida Bar.

Based upon the facts of this case, The Florida Bar recommends that Respondent be suspended for three months and one day, show proof of rehabilitation pursuant to Integration Rule 11.11, and pay costs of the disciplinary proceedings.

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO ESTABLISH A CAUSAL RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN RESPONDENT'S ALCOHOLISM AND THE MISCONDUCT SO AS TO JUSTIFY CONSIDERATION OF ALCOHOLISM AS A MITIGATING FACTOR.

Respondent has been found guilty of practicing law in 1980, 1981, 1982 and 1983 while under suspension for nonpayment of dues (R.R. 1,2). Respondent testified that the first time he sought treatment for alcoholism was August 15, 1985 when he attended his first meeting of Alcoholics Anonymous (Tr. 20). Further, other than Respondent's testimony, there was no corroborating testimony or other evidence presented to establish the existence of alcoholism during the period 1980 through 1983. In fact, Respondent's testimony concerning the adverse effects of his drinking and

"character defects" not characterized by Respondent as alcohol-related involved the year 1984.

[MR. HEADLEY]: . . .

Now, I was not a daily drinker, and I, to this point, had been spared the under-bridge type of drinking. I wasn't totally downed out, but I would say to Your Honor that I have no automobile. I just purchased a 1973 Plymouth Duster automobile. I had no home. This is going back approximately six, eight months ago. I had no office. I was not practicing law except on a sporadic basis a few cases that I continued to hold onto, where I tried to complete those.

. . . .

I had an office up until approximately March or April 1984, at which time I was asked to leave the office I was in and my belief today being because of certain character defects or parts of my personality that were emerging in this office.

## (Tr. 25, emphasis added)

[REFEREE]: Do you think you're to a point now where you can represent people, take their money, represent them as an attorney and function fully as their attorney in a case, say, a criminal case?

[MR. HEADLEY]: No, I don't.

[REFEREE]: What would stop you from doing it if you still have your license?

[MR. HEADLEY]: Nothing. I would say to you, Judge, that, in all due respect, that I don't know that that enters into the discipline for my nonpayment of dues. .

#### (Tr.32-33, emphasis added)

In The Florida Bar v. Blalock, 325 So.2d 401 (1976) this court held that:

We . . . appreciate . . . [Respondent's] . . . effort to control the root cause of his problems. Our duty is to weigh these personal factors as they affect Blalock, and in doing so also discharge our impersonal responsibilities to protect the public and to generate confidence in the integrity of the legal profession.

# Id. at 404.

While Respondent has testified concerning his efforts to rehabilitate himself and deal with his current alcohol problem through involvement with Alcoholics Anonymous (Tr. 32), it is clear that Respondent is not currently fit to practice law. Accordingly, reinstatement proceedings pursuant to Integration Rule 11.11 should be required wherein Respondent's fitness to resume the practice of law shall be determined by a referee who shall submit his findings to the Supreme Court for appropriate review. Respondent's later testimony confirms that he received the dues notices, was asked about payments and simply neglected to pay them.

[MR. HEADLEY]: [N]otices would arrive [at Respondent's office] and they would be opened and I would be asked about the Bar matter and the Bar dues and I would just go on about my business and say I was taking care of it. . . .

. . . It falls on no one else other than me, and as I think back when I did those, I would mean to pay them, and tend to pay them, but they always just got pushed in the corner of the desk and I went on to other

things, and I don't know that I even thought that I wasn't hurting people, that it was a victimless type of situation.

(Tr. 27,28, emphasis added)

Moreover, in Respondent's Petition for Reinstatement following his suspension for nonpayment of dues filed with the Board of Governors in 1983, (COMPL. EX.3), Respondent does not mention alcoholism as a factor in failing to pay his Bar dues.1/

In State ex rel. v. Hogsten, 127 So.2d 668 (Fla. 1961), this Court held that alcoholism or illness is not relevant for consideration as mitigating circumstances when it occurs after the wrongful conduct. In the instant case, the evidence which supports a finding that Respondent's alcoholism existed as of August 1984 when he joined Alcoholics Anonymous, does not necessarily establish the existence of alcoholism in 1980 through 1983, the period in which the misconduct occurred.

<sup>1/</sup> Respondent's position in 1983, as reflected in his
Petition for Reinstatement, was that his "delinquency
resulted from a belief that his employer had undertaken to
pay his Florida Bar dues". In his testimony before the
Referee, Respondent disavowed his 1983 position claiming that
his explanation to the Board of Governors was a
"misrepresentation" which was also apparently caused by his
alcoholism (Tr. 35-36).

Assuming, arguendo, that the evidence supports a finding that Respondent was an alcoholic during 1980 through 1983, there was no evidence that Respondent's alcoholism caused either his failure to pay Bar dues or his decision to continue to practice law so as to justify consideration of alcoholism as a mitigating factor. The mere fact that a potentially mitigating condition existed at the time the misconduct occurred does not establish a causal relationship between the mitigating condition and the unethical conduct.

It is significant that Respondent did not testify that alcoholism caused his failure to pay his Bar dues.

[MS. ETKIN]: Mr. Headley, is it your position but for your alcoholic problem you would have paid your dues as required?

[MR. HEADLEY]: I really don't know. I honestly can't tell you.

I believe, and I would like to make it real clear, Ms. Etkin, that I don't offer this as an excuse and I don't want to use it as a crutch to explain away what I've done. I offer it as some explanation for what has happened. I accept full responsibility for what I did.

[MS. ETKIN]: Mr. Headley, did your alcoholism cause you not to pay your Bar dues for the years 1980, 1981, 1982 and 1983 and 1984?

[MR. HEADLEY]: I really don't know that. I can answer that nothing drove me to not pay other than the

disease, and I don't know. I don't want to use it as a convenient crutch to fall on at this time and say I did it because I'm am alcoholic. I don't know the answer to that.

I wonder. I have given deep thought many, many times why did I do this. What is the reason I did it. Where is the explanation, and I honestly have not been able to explain it to myself.

Ms. Etkin, I can't tell you if I was not an alcoholic I would have paid it. I think most sane people would. I think if I would have been a sane individual and not suffering from a disease, I would have. I think so.

(Tr. 21-22, emphasis added).

In his report, the Referee acknowledges Respondent's inability to give a definite reason for his failure to pay Bar dues (R.R. 2). The Referee apparently based his decision to consider alcoholism as a mitigating factor upon an improper assumption that if Respondent was not an alcoholic he would have paid his dues.

[REFEREE]: . . . I am firmly convinced that you had to be, like you say, an alcoholic or you wouldn't allow this to happen.

(Tr. 44)

The Referee's position appears to be that only an alcoholic would fail to pay Bar dues and would practice law while suspended for nonpayment of dues. However, alcoholism is not the only explanation for professional misconduct.<sup>2</sup>/

<sup>2/</sup> Although Respondent's testimony clearly does not support a finding that alcoholism caused his failure to pay Bar dues, in his finding of causation, the Referee refers to the testimony of Ray O'Keefe, an attorney who is a member of Alcoholics Anonymous and is active in programs dealing with alcoholism (R.R. 3). Mr. O'Keefe testified that he . fn. cont'd . .

It is the position of The Florida Bar that alcoholism should mitigate discipline only when it is clearly established that the condition existed at the time of the misconduct and was causally related to the misconduct. In the instant case, the evidence does not support a conclusion that Respondent was an alcoholic during the period 1980, 1981, 1982 and 1983 and that his alcoholism caused his failure to pay his Bar dues and to practice law while under suspension for nonpayment of dues.

first met Respondent in August 1984 and is acquainted with him through Alcoholics Anonymous (Tr. 42). The Florida Bar objected to Mr. O'Keefe's testimony for the purposes of establishing causation because he had no personal knowledge of Respondent's alcoholism prior to August 1984 and, therefore, could not confirm that Respondent was an alcoholic during that period of time or that Respondent's alcoholism caused his failure to pay Bar dues (Tr. 43).

II. WHERE THE EVIDENCE CLEARLY ESTABLISHES RESPONDENT'S PRESENT INABILITY TO PRACTICE LAW DUE TO ALCOHOLISM OR ANY MENTAL OR PHYSICAL CONDITION, PROOF OF REHABILITATION SHOULD BE REQUIRED THROUGH REINSTATEMENT PROCEEDINGS BEFORE RESPONDENT IS PERMITTED TO RESUME THE PRACTICE OF LAW.

This Court has held that an attorney's incompetency reflects on his fitness to practice law. The Florida Bar v.

Levenson, 252 So.2d 794 (Fla. 1971). Accordingly, an attorney who is suspended because of incompetency has the right to apply for reinstatement upon showing that the mental disability no longer exists. Id. An attorney suffering from a neurotic condition has not been permitted to resume the practice of law merely based upon the passage of time and without a showing that he was mentally and tempermentally competent to resume the practice of law. The Florida Bar v.

Goldin, 240 So.2d 300 (Fla. 1970).

In cases specifically involving alcoholism, this Court has held that "a practicing attorney who is an alcoholic can be a substantial danger to the public and the judicial system as a whole". The Florida Bar v. Larkin, 420 So.2d 1080, 1081 (Fla. 1982). In Larkin an attorney whose professional misconduct stemmed totally from alcoholism was ordered

suspended for ninety days with proof of rehabilitation required. In requiring rehabilitation, this Court stated:

'By his own admission, Respondent suffers from abuse of alcohol and such condition has existed or some length of time.'

. . . [R]einstatement [should] be conditioned upon proof that he receive professional treatment for alcohol abuse which results in his having full control of the problem, that he no longer prevents a risk to the public as a practicing atorney, that he is fit and able to practice law.

# Id. at 1081

The only disciplinary cases involving an alcoholic or incompetent attorney where rehabilitation has not been required are those in which rehabilitation subsequent to the misconduct was established before the Referee. The Florida Bar v. Moran, 273 So.2d 379 (Fla. 1973); The Florida Bar v. Musleh, 453 So.2d 794 (Fla. 1984); The Florida Bar v. Rosetti, 379 So.2d 362 (Fla. 1980).

In the instant case, Respondent's unfitness to resume the practice of law due to alcoholism or emotional instability is clearly established in the record and recognized by the Referee (R.R. 2,3).

[MR. HEADLEY]: . . .

August 14th, the day before I went to my first meeting of Alcoholics Anonymous, I had a gun in my mouth and I was crying because I couldn't kill myself. I had a shaggy beard. I had long hair. I looked as bad as I felt. I was yellow in complexion. I never went outside, never into the sunlight, never

talked to anybody, rejected everybody, all my family, all my friends. I had nobody that I had any confidence or faith or trust or belief in at the very end and certainly not myself. I hated myself the most, but I was a total wreck prior to my going to Alcoholics Anonymous, and I believe and hope that I've had some turn around from that day because I didn't long to live, and I don't know if you think that's an overstatement, and I'm not looking for sympathy here, but I genuinely believe that I was one step from the grave or an institution, an institution meaning a mental institution, because I was become disillusional in my mind.

It was getting to the point where I didn't even need to drink a lot to change my perception to what was happening to me. . . .

(Tr. 29-30).

III. THE TERMS OF PROBATION RECOMMENDED BY THE REFEREE ARE AMBIGUOUS AS WELL AS CONTRARY TO THE INTEGRATION RULE OF THE FLORIDA BAR

In Section 1 of his disciplinary recommendation the Referee sets forth a period of probation of "not less than six months, nor less than twelve months" which is, on its face, inconsistent (R.R. 4). Further, it is unclear as to whether Respondent is permitted to practice law during the probationary period. If not, there is a question concerning the purpose of assigning Special Committee attorneys to "supervise and monitor" Respondent's rehabilitation.

In Section 2 the Referee orders the provisional reinstatement of Respondent based upon Respondent's payment of "arreared Bar dues" for 1984-1985. In doing so, the Referee overlooks the provisions of article VIII, Section 2,

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