IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

:

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The referee's report should be adopted as the Complainant has failed to carry its burden of showing that it is errouneous, unlawful or unjustified. There is more than sufficient testimony in the record to support the finding of the referee as to a causal relationship between the Respondents' misconduct and his admitted alcoholism. This finding being supported by the evidence, it was properly considered as a mitigating factor in determining the proper disciplinary action to be recommended.

The referee's recommendations are within the scope of The Integration Rule of the Florida Bar, by providing for a period of probation with more than sufficient conditions to properly protect the public.

ARGUMENT

I. <u>THE REPORT OF THE REFEREE SOUGHT TO BE REVIEWED</u> IS NOT ERRONEOUS, UNLAWFUL OR UNJUSTIFIED.

In reviewing the report of the referee, the burden is upon the Complainant as the petitioning party to demonstrate that the report sub judice is erroneous, unlawful or unjustified, Art. XI Rule 11.09(3)(e), Integration Rule of The Florida Bar. Furthermore, the referee's findings of facts are presumed correct and will not be disregarded unless clearly erroneous or lacking support in evidence, <u>The Florida Bar v. Baron</u>, 392 So2d.1318(1981), and should not be disturbed by the reviewing Court unless there is manifest error therein, <u>The Florida Bar v. Bennett</u>, 246 So.2d.107 (1971).

A. The Referee's Report was not Erroneous.

Complainant seeks to establish that the recommendation of the referee was erroneous in that there was insufficient evidence to establish a causal relationship between Respondent's alcoholism and the misconduct, so as to justify consideration of alcoholism as a mitigating factor. Assuming arguendo this argument was correct, Respondent suggests that under the facts of the complaint,

even without taking into consideration the testimony in mitigation, the imposition of a period of probation as opposed to a ninetyone (91) day suspension would not be erroneous or unjustified. In that regard, the uncontradicted findings of the referee were that the Respondent in this case:

> "...has made a favorable impression upon the referee at the hearing... Respondent was neat and professional in appearance as well as polite and respectful to the Court... the referee's notes that there have been no instances of bad conduct by Respondent as a practicing attorney and Respondent has not been cited in contempt of Court or to be found to have adversely affected the rights or neglected the interests of a client...."

> > (R.R. 2 and 3)

Based upon the testimony of the Respondent himself and the referee's observations at the time he testified, as well as the misconduct complained of and admitted to by the Respondent in this case, i.e. failure to pay Bar dues resulting in suspension and practicing while under suspension, when not linked with any further evidence of misconduct on the part of the Respondent, does not justify a ninety one (91) day suspension. Furthermore, it should be noted that at the time of his hearing, Respondent had paid his delinquent Bar dues.

However, there was ample competent, beleivable and uncontradicted testimony presented before the referee by both the

Respondent, as well as Professor RAYMOND P. O'KEEFE, a recovered alcoholic, upon which the referee could base his recommendation and find a causal relationship between the Respondent's alcoholism and the misconduct complained about.

Professor RAYMOND P. O'KEEFE testified inter alia that he is a member of Alcoholics Anonymous and has been a member since he took his last drink on November 4, 1965. In 1979, the New York State Bar Association invited him to form a committee to study, educate and rehabilitate lawyers who suffer from the disease of alcoholism... and he became the first chairman of the New York State Bar Association Committee on Lawyer Alcoholism (R.38-39). In 1981 he was invited to appear before the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar at which time he reported to them on the progress of lawyer alcoholism committees in other states; that he was an adjunct member of the faculty of the New York Medical Committee which is associated with Cornell University where he lectured on the subject of alcoholism (T. 40); that he has made a specialty of alcoholic lawyers and their problems since 1978; has been accepted as an expert on the subject of lawyer alcoholism (and was accepted by the referee in the case sub judice); has testified before the Supreme Court of the State of New York; has given lectures on the subject before bar associations in at least eight (8) states; has been associated with two hospitals in New York City and their alcoholism programs, served as advisor and consultant to numerous

programs; and currently serves as the Vice-Chairman of the American Bar Association Committee on Alcoholism and Drug Law Reform (T. 40 and 41).

Professor O'KEEFE in his testimony specifically advised the referee in detail as to his knowledge of the Respondent, which was first-hand and gained through personal observation by Professor O'KEEFE since he first met the Respondent in August, 1984 (T. 42).

Professor O'KEEFE in detail advised the Court of the basis for his personal knowledge of the Respondent and most particularly the Respondent's alcoholism and acts which resulted in these disciplinary proceedings. Contrary to Complainant's suggestion that there was insufficient evidence to establish a causal relationship to Respondent's alcoholism and the misconduct complained of, Professor O'KEEFE gave substantial testimony (in response many times to questions posed by the referee) as to the causal relationship between the Respondent's alcoholism and the misconduct (T. 48-54). In fact, not only did Professor O'KEEFE present an explanation as to the causal connection, but the problem of failure to pay dues among alcoholic lawyers was so common that the California Bar Association in developing twenty (20) questions specifically suited to determining whether a lawyer suffers from alcoholism includes as question number four (4)...

"HAVE YOU FAILED TO PAY YOUR BAR DUES?"

(T. 53)

Therefore, a reading of this record clearly shows substantial testimony present wherein the referee could find a causal connection and Complainants have not met their burden of overturning any factual finding by the referee in this regard.

B. The Referee's Report was not Unlawful.

Article XI, Rule 11.10, Integration Rule of The Florida Bar, provides inter alia the following:

"The judgment entered, finding members of the Florida Bar guilty of misconduct, shall include one or more of the following disciplinary measures:

1. Probation. The respondent may be placed upon probation for a stated period of time of not less than six months nor more than three years and for an indefinite period determined by conditions stated in the order. The judgment shall state the conditions of the probation which may include the following: supervision of all or part of the Respondent's work by a member of the Florida Bar; the making of reports to a designated agency; the satisfactory completion of a course of study or a paper on legal ethics approved by the Supreme Court...."

The referee's recommendations in the case sub judice are authorized and envisioned by the above Integration Rule, and in fact, seek to follow the various provisions set forth in the rule which suggest that the Court can require certain conditions of probation, including the conditions set forth by the referee in the case sub judice. See, <u>The Florida Bar v. Harry T. Pryor</u>, 350 So.2d. 83 (1977), wherein the Court imposed a period of probation with conditions similar to the ones recommended here,

in the case of an attorney who appeared in court while under the influence of alcohol and misrepresented to the public his status as a member in good standing of The Florida Bar while under suspension for nonpayment of dues. Albeit a longer period of probation was ordered by this Court in the <u>Pryor</u> case (supra), it should be noted that unlike the circumstances in Respondent's case, Pryor's alleged misconduct was far more egregious. There can be no doubt that this Court can impose a period of probation with conditions such as the ones set forth in the referee's report. The term "provisional reinstatement" obviously refers to the status Respondent would have while serving his period of probation. The problems envisioned by The Bar with the use of the term simply do not exist.

C. The Recommendation by the Referree is not Unjustified.

The Respondent suggests that the referee's recommendation is both fair, justified and provides safeguards to protect the public. The majority of the cases cited by Complainant are distinguishable in that they all deal with disciplinary actions regarding attorneys whose conduct was more egregious than the case sub judice. Many of the cases cited by The Bar (unlike the present case) deal with misconduct wherein specific clients were injured as a result of the attorney's misconduct, or criminal acts were committed by the attorney. In the case sub

judice, Mr. HEADLEY, appeared before the hearing examiner on December 21, 1984, and voluntarily admitted his alcoholism. He testified without contradiction and said testimony was corroborated by Professor O'KEEFE, that he has been and is now willing to cooperate in seeking alcoholism rehabilitation. In fact, the testimony before the referee established that Mr. HEADLEY has been actively involved as a member of Alcoholic Anonymous since August 1984.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Larkin</u>, 420 So. 2d. 1080(1982) this Court stated:

> "In those cases where alcoholism is the underlying cause of professional misconduct and the individual attorney is willing to cooperate in seeking alcoholism rehabilitation, we should take these circumstances into account in determining the appropriate discipline....."

<u>Florida Bar v. Larkin</u>, supra, at 1081. It is true that in the <u>Larkin</u> case, this Court recommended that Larkin be suspended from practice of law for ninety one (91) days; however, the <u>Larkin</u> case is factually distinguishable from the case sub judice as to the misconduct complained about.... Larkin was found guilty in three(3) instances of conduct resulting in injury to a client. Furthermore, in Larkin, the referee made references to his observations of Larkin at the hearing wherein he noted that Larkin's physical appearance was such that he concluded that Larkin suffered from such a condition before he admitted it and his appearance clearly demonstrated that his ability and faculties were impaired as a result of long abuse of alcohol. It is

evident from reading the Larkin opinion that not only was the conduct complained of the type which would cause one concern for the safety of the public, but that the conditon of Larkin at the time of the hearing caused the referee concern since his mannerisms and demeanor clearly demonstrated that his ability and faculties were impaired due to alcoholism.

This is to be distinguished from Mr. HEADLEY'S case, who presented a completely opposite picture; has been actively seeking help and rehabilitation since August 1984; testified on direct and cross-examination coherently; and according to the referee's report in findings of fact, left him with a favorable impression as to his current physical and mental condition.

The conditons made a part of the recommended probation provide more than adequate protection to the public, i.e.:

 Probation under the supervision and guidance of the Florida Bar Special Committee on Alcohol Abuse;

2. Daily monitoring by the Special Committee;

3. Termination of probation upon report to this Court by the Special Committee that Respondent's progress or rehabilitation has become unsatisfactory:

 Monthly reports to this Court by the Special Committee of the Respondent's progress;

5. Respondent's continued participation in Alcoholics Anonymous, and

6. No consumption of any alcoholic beverages by the Respondent.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the record in this case and the uncontradicted testimony placed before the referee at the time of hearing, there was substantial evidence upon which the referee could base his recommendation. Furthermore, the discipline recommended due to the misconduct of the Respondent in this matter under the circumstances in this case, was not unjustified or unlawful, and the Complainant has not met its burden in showing that the report was erroneous, unlawful or unjustified.

The referee's recommendation and report should be adopted.